Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

ELSEVIER

Molecular and Cellular Endocrinology



journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/mce

Review Obesity and testicular function

P.M. Mah, G.A. Wittert*

School of Medicine, University of Adelaide, Australia

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 8 January 2009 Received in revised form 13 May 2009 Accepted 8 June 2009

Keywords: Obesity Testosterone Sex hormone-binding globulin Insulin resistance Spermatogenesis

ABSTRACT

Obesity in men, particularly when central, is associated with lower total testosterone [TT], free testosterone [FT] and sex hormone-binding globulin [SHBG], and a greater decline in TT and FT with increasing age compared with lean men. Obesity-related conditions such as obstructive sleep apnea, insulin resistance and type 2 diabetes mellitus are independently associated with decreased plasma testosterone. Possible mechanisms include decreased LH pulse amplitude, inhibitory effects of oestrogen at the hypothalamus and pituitary and the effects of leptin and other peptides centrally and on Leydig cells. Obese men have reduced sperm concentration and total sperm count compared to lean men but sperm motility and morphology appear unaffected. The cause and effect relationships between low plasma androgen levels, obesity and the metabolic syndrome, and associated cardiometabolic risk remain unclear. While weight loss normalizes TT and FT in obese men, androgen replacement in the short term does not significantly improve cardiometabolic risk profile despite reducing fat mass.

© 2009 Elsevier Ireland Ltd. All rights reserved.

Contents

1.	Introduction	180
2.	Hypothalamic-pituitary-gonadal (HPG) axis	181
3.	Plasma androgen levels	181
	3.1. Circulating testosterone levels	
	3.2. Measurement of plasma testosterone levels	181
4.	Obesity and the HPG axis	
5.	Effect of distribution of adipose tissue on plasma androgen levels	181
	5.1. Central effects and LH pulsatility	
	5.2. Androgen metabolism and effect of oestrogens	182
	5.3. Effects of leptin	182
	5.4. Effect of obesity on Leydig cells and testicular function	182
6.	Obesity, obstructive sleep apnea and hypogonadism	
7.	Ageing, obesity and plasma testosterone	183
8.	Obesity and spermatogenesis	
9.	Obesity and hypogonadism: cause or effect?	183
	9.1. Effect of androgen ablation on body composition and metabolism	183
	9.2. Effect of weight loss on plasma androgen levels	
	9.3. Effects of testosterone replacement therapy	184
10.	Conclusion	184
	References	184

1. Introduction

* Corresponding author at: Department of Medicine, Level 6, Eleanor Harrald Building, Frome Road, Adelaide, SA 5000, Australia. Tel.: +61 8 8222 5502; fax: +61 8 8222 4515.

E-mail address: gary.wittert@adelaide.edu.au (G.A. Wittert).

Obesity has increased dramatically worldwide over the past 20–30 years. The risk of developing common chronic diseases such as diabetes mellitus, hypertension, heart disease and stroke increased with the severity of overweight in both men and women,

^{0303-7207/\$ -} see front matter © 2009 Elsevier Ireland Ltd. All rights reserved. doi:10.1016/j.mce.2009.06.007

particularly with predominant accumulation of visceral fat. Obese men and women with body mass index [BMI] over 35 kg/m² have approximately 20 times higher likelihood of developing diabetes mellitus (Field et al., 2001). Obesity has also been shown to be associated with alterations in sex steroid hormone concentrations. Low plasma testosterone concentrations are associated with visceral obesity and the metabolic syndrome and increased cardiovascular risk (Haffner et al., 1993); the cause and effect relationship remain unresolved. In this review, we discuss the effects of obesity on the hypothalamic–pituitary–testicular axis, plasma androgen levels and spermatogenesis, as well as the effects of weight loss on androgen levels and the effects of androgen replacement therapy in this population.

2. Hypothalamic-pituitary-gonadal (HPG) axis

In a normal adult male, the preoptic area and the medial basal region of the hypothalamus secrete gonadotropin-releasing hormone [GnRH] in a pulsatile manner. GnRH interacts with cell-surface receptors coupled to G proteins on the plasma membrane of pituitary gonadotrophs stimulating the release of luteinizing hormone [LH] and follicle-stimulating hormone [FSH]. LH binds to the LH receptor on the plasma membrane of Leydig cells resulting in the synthesis of the enzymes of testosterone biosynthesis. LH secretion is under negative feedback control by gonadal steroids, both testosterone and oestradiol, at the level of the hypothalamus with the androgens effecting a slowing of the hypothalamic pulse generator and consequently a decrease in the frequency of the LH pulsatile release (Griffin and Wilson, 2003).

FSH does not play a major role in the control of Leydig cell function in adults and instead acts in the control of spermatogenesis following its binding to the FSH receptor in the basal aspect of the plasma membrane of Sertoli cells. FSH secretion is modulated by activin and inhibin. Activin is a homodimer produced by the Sertoli cells, peritubular and interstitial cells as well as the pituitary and hypothalamus. Activin binds to activin receptor type II [ACT RII] in the gonadotroph cells in the pituitary and stimulates the secretion of FSH. Increase in FSH secretion is also thought to be via activin stimulation of GnRH in the hypothalamus (Kumanov et al., 2005). Inhibin B is a heterodimeric glycoprotein that is predominantly produced in the Sertoli cells and it shows a diurnal rhythm parallel to that of testosterone. Inhibin's production is stimulated by FSH and it in turn, inhibits the secretion of FSH via a negative feedback mechanism. Inhibin has also been shown to bind to ACT RII, reducing activin binding to the receptor and therefore activin's stimulation of FSH secretion (Meachem et al., 2001; de Kretser et al., 2004). FSH levels increase with the loss of germinal elements in the testis (Van Thiel et al., 1972; Griffin and Wilson, 2003) and FSH has been used as a marker of spermatogenesis. Inhibin B used in combination with FSH is a more sensitive marker of spermatogenesis when correlated with testicular volume and sperm counts but they are not able to predict the presence of sperm in individual testicular tissue sample (Meachem et al., 2001).

3. Plasma androgen levels

3.1. Circulating testosterone levels

Testosterone is present in plasma as free or unbound testosterone, albumin-bound and sex hormone-binding globulin [SHBG]-bound. In lean men, about 2% of testosterone is unbound, 44% is bound to SHBG and 50% is bound to albumin and other proteins (Pardridge, 1986). The proportion of testosterone that is free together with the albumin-bound fraction have been considered to be the biologically active component that is readily available to the tissues and are collectively known as bioavailable testos-

terone. The term non-SHBG-bound testosterone is more accurate as SHBG-bound testosterone may be bioavailable in some target tissues (Morley et al., 2002), and therefore the most appropriate fraction of testosterone to measure remains unresolved.

A cross-sectional study of healthy elderly men showed that bioavailable testosterone is positively related with muscle strength and total body bone mineral density, and correlate better with clinical symptoms than total testosterone (van den Beld et al., 2000). Free testosterone and albumin-bound testosterone have been shown to decline relatively more with a decrease in serum albumin level than in response to an age-related increase of serum SHBG, especially in men in their 60s and 70s (Hayashi and Yamada, 2008). Conditions that result in a decrease of serum albumin levels may therefore induce symptoms of sex hormone deficiency regardless of total plasma testosterone levels.

The fraction of testosterone bound to SHBG in serum is proportional to the SHBG level. SHBG production in the liver is regulated by a number of hormones. Oestrogen and related steroids, thyroid hormone and insulin increase SHBG levels. SHBG decreases in response to testosterone administration, hypothyroidism, and in the presence of insulin resistance. SHBG levels affect bioavailable testosterone levels especially when serum albumin is low (Hayashi and Yamada, 2008).

3.2. Measurement of plasma testosterone levels

There is a diurnal and seasonal variation in the circulating testosterone levels (Morley et al., 2002); levels should be measured fasting in the morning. Most platform assays for total testosterone are unsatisfactory (Sikaris et al., 2005) and there is no universally recognized testosterone-calibrating standard (Rosner et al., 2007). Well-calibrated assays using a tandem mass spectrometer are optimal (Vieira et al., 2008).

Equilibrium dialysis is the gold standard for the estimation of free testosterone (Vermeulen et al., 1999) but is technically difficult and time-consuming. The calculation of free testosterone is dependent on the accuracy of the assay used to measure total testosterone and on SHBG as measured by an immunoassay for which there is no gold standard (de Ronde et al., 2006), and the dissociation equilibrium constant [Kd] used in the equation changes with increasing age and in the presence of disease. Morning salivary testosterone levels have been shown to be useful in differentiating hypogonadal from eugonadal men and there is good correlation between salivary testosterone and free testosterone (Arregger et al., 2007).

Bioavailable testosterone is measured after precipitation and removal of SHBG using ammonium sulphate and can also be calculated but the same proviso concerning the assay used to measure testosterone and caveats concerning the Kd used apply (de Ronde et al., 2006; Giton et al., 2006, 2007).

4. Obesity and the HPG axis

Obesity is associated with a reduction in serum total testosterone and SHBG levels (Gray et al., 1991; Kaufman and Vermeulen, 2005). In the Massachusetts Male Ageing Study, men who were obese at baseline and at follow-up, whether measured by BMI or central obesity (waist-hip ratio or waist circumference) had a greater decline of free and total testosterone and SHBG compared to men who were never classified as obese (Derby et al., 2006). The mechanism/s by which obesity affects the HPG axis remains to be clarified.

5. Effect of distribution of adipose tissue on plasma androgen levels

There is an inverse relationship between plasma total testosterone, free testosterone and SHBG with visceral fat (Haffner, 2000) that is considerably stronger than inverse relationship between plasma total testosterone, free testosterone and SHBG with BMI (Svartberg et al., 2004). Plasma levels of free testosterone and SHBG (Abate et al., 2002) correlate inversely with both truncal and peripheral adiposity in men with and without diabetes. Nielsen et al. investigated the role of visceral adipose tissue and subcutaneous tissue on circulating sex hormones in a population-based study of 783 Danish 20-29-year-old men using dual-energy X-ray absorptiometry and magnetic resonance imaging (Nielsen et al., 2007), and showed that visceral adipose tissue correlated independently with bioavailable and free testosterone. The inverse relationship between total testosterone and subcutaneous adipose tissue appeared to be due to variations in SHBG levels. Almost one in every four obese men had total testosterone levels below the reference limit of non-obese men and every other obese man with low total testosterone had bioavailable testosterone levels below the lower limit of non-obese men (Nielsen et al., 2007).

Visceral adiposity is associated with elevated concentrations of insulin, C-peptide and glucose intolerance, which are negatively correlated to total and calculated free testosterone levels (Seidell et al., 1990; Pasquali et al., 1991). Elevated insulin concentration is thought to be the cause of reduced SHBG levels in visceral obesity as basal secretion of SHBG by cultured human hepatoma cell line (Hep G2) was greatly reduced by the physiological concentration of insulin (Plymate et al., 1988; Kalme et al., 2003). Visceral obesity is associated with decreased basal cortisol secretion and increased cortisol response to exogenous adrenocorticotropin stimulation which may contribute to higher insulin levels and decreased SHBG levels (Hautanen, 2000). The effects of insulin resistance on plasma androgen levels appear to be reversible as treatment of hypogonadal men with type 2 diabetes mellitus with Rosiglitazone, an insulin-sensitizer increased total testosterone, SHBG, free testosterone and bioavailable testosterone levels (Kapoor et al., 2008).

5.1. Central effects and LH pulsatility

It has recently been shown that total and free testosterone levels in obese men were lower compared to non-obese men independent of the decrease in SHBG with unchanged or decreased LH levels, suggesting a failure at the hypothalamic–pituitary level (Wu et al., 2008). LH pulsatility remains undisturbed in severely obese men but LH amplitude is significantly attenuated compared to nonobese controls (Vermeulen et al., 1993). In this group of obese and non-obese control subjects, there was a highly significant linear correlation between the sum of LH amplitudes in each subject and plasma free testosterone. The decreased LH levels and LH pulse amplitude depends on the degree of obesity and are observed mainly in the massively obese men with BMI>40 kg/m² (Giagulli et al., 1994).

5.2. Androgen metabolism and effect of oestrogens

Obese men have been shown to have elevated circulating oestrogen levels (Schneider et al., 1979; Zumoff et al., 1981) predominantly derived from the aromatization of circulating testosterone, mostly in adipose tissue where the enzyme aromatase is present in higher levels compared to other tissues. The overall rate of aromatization of testosterone to oestradiol increases with age and fat mass (Vermeulen et al., 2002). This results in alteration in the testosterone to oestradiol ratio that leads to further abdominal fat deposition and a greater degree of testosterone deficiency, which has been shown to lead to hypogonadotrophic hypogonadism and infertility in the setting of morbid obesity (Roth et al., 2008). Oestrogen has dual sites of negative feedback on the HPG axis, acting at the hypothalamus (Veldhuis and Dufau, 1987; Hayes et al., 2000) to decrease GnRH pulse frequency and at the pituitary (Finkelstein et al., 1991; Bagatell et al., 1994; Hayes et al., 2000) to decrease LH secretion.

5.3. Effects of leptin

Obesity is associated with increased plasma levels of leptin, the obese gene product secreted from adipocytes. Isidori et al. examined the relationship between leptin concentrations and basal and human chorionic gonadotropin [hCG]-stimulated sex hormone levels in adult men aged less than 60 years old, subdivided into non-obese [BMI < 30], moderately obese [BMI 30–40] and massively obese [BMI > 40] (Isidori et al., 1999). They found that circulating leptin correlated with total and free testosterone even after controlling for SHBG, LH and oestradiol and that leptin was the best hormonal predictor of lower androgen levels in obese men. Leptin receptors are present in testicular tissue and leptin may play a role in reduced androgen levels in obese men.

5.4. Effect of obesity on Leydig cells and testicular function

Male C57Bl/6J-ob/ob [leptin deficient] mice have lower plasma testosterone levels, decreased LH response to GnRH and hyperplasia of pituitary gonadotrophs. In ex-vivo cultures of Leydig cells from these mice, hCG-stimulated testosterone formation and conversion of progesterone to androgens were decreased and there was an increase in lipid accumulation and a decrease in naphthylesterase activity in the Leydig cells. The changes in testicular endocrine function in obese mice were interpreted as consequences of pituitary dysfunction (Kuhn-Velten et al., 1986). In contrast, the Leydig cells of the obese Zucker rat [point mutation in the leptin receptor] testes were hypertrophied, contained numerous fat droplets and few signs of active hormone synthesis, but there was a normal pituitary response to hypothalamic stimulation (Young et al., 1982). The reason for these discrepant findings is unclear.

Dynamic studies using a single dose of hCG showed that obese men had lower peak testosterone concentrations than non-obese men (Isidori et al., 1999). INSL3, a LH-independent measure of Leydig cell function, is unaffected by obesity in men (Anand-Ivell et al., 2006).

Apart from leptin, a number of hormones involved in the regulation of food intake and metabolism are also involved in the regulation of the HPG axis. Adiponectin, resistin, ghrelin and endocannabinoids and their cognate receptors are expressed in the testis in rodents and humans, and appear to be of functional significance (Tosca et al., 2008; Goulis and Tarlatzis, 2008; Caminos et al., 2008; Nogueiras et al., 2004; Kheradmand et al., 2008; Garcia et al., 2007; Ishikawa et al., 2007; Cacciola et al., 2008), although their roles in the interaction between nutritional state, obesity and the metabolic syndrome, and testicular function in humans remains to be elucidated.

6. Obesity, obstructive sleep apnea and hypogonadism

Obstructive sleep apnea [OSA] is associated with severe intermittent hypoxia and sleep fragmentation. Although obesity is not essential for the development of OSA, about two-thirds of patients with OSA are obese (Wittels, 1985). Patients with OSA have been found to have lower free and total testosterone and SHBG independent of ageing and adiposity. Taken together the available data suggests that OSA produces a reversible dysfunction of the hypothalamic-pituitary-gonadal axis, the magnitude of which is related to the severity of the OSA and independent of the concurrent obesity (Meston et al., 2003).

A study comparing serial levels of serum LH and testosterone of 10 men who had OSA with five controls found that patients with OSA had a significant suppression of their nocturnal testosterone rise even though they maintained a normally oriented diurnal rhythm of testosterone (Luboshitzky et al., 2002). The lower secretion of LH and testosterone at night in these patients was independent of age and degree of obesity. Some (Grunstein et al., 1989), but not all studies (Bratel et al., 1999) have shown that active treatment with nasal continuous positive airway pressure [nCPAP] increases total plasma testosterone. Another study has shown no effect of treatment with nCPAP on testosterone pulse characteristics and testosterone levels during nCPAP treatment were still lower than control men of similar ages (Luboshitzky et al., 2002). After treatment with nCPAP, patients with OSA had similar LH pulse frequency but of shorter duration and higher increment than before treatment (Luboshitzky et al., 2003).

7. Ageing, obesity and plasma testosterone

Normal ageing is characterized by changes in body composition, including a preferential increase in abdominal fat and a loss of skeletal muscle mass (Seidell and Visscher, 2000). Ageing is associated with decreased levels of testosterone and dihydrotestosterone, however age-related differences in androgen levels are partly mediated by variation in fat distribution (Couillard et al., 2000). The prevalence of the metabolic syndrome increases with age and is independently associated with lower androgen levels (Rodriguez et al., 2007) and higher oestrogen levels (Maggio et al., 2008). The absence of obesity and chronic disease and the presence of a healthy lifestyle are more important determinants of androgen levels than ageing per se (Mohr et al., 2005; Yeap et al., 2008). In multivariate models, age, waist circumference and health status were associated with low androgen levels and symptomatic androgen deficiency, and of all variables, waist circumference was the most important contributor (Hall et al., 2008).

8. Obesity and spermatogenesis

Obesity is associated with alterations in spermatogenesis. In subfertile men, obesity was three times more prevalent compared to male partners of couples with idiopathic or female factor infertility (Hammoud et al., 2006).

A cross-sectional study of 1558 Danish men found that men with both a low BMI [<20 kg/m²] and a high BMI [>25 kg/m²] had a reduction in sperm concentration and total sperm count compared to men with BMI between 20 and 25 kg/m² after correction for disorders of reproductive organs, in utero exposure to smoking and period of abstinence prior to semen sampling, although sperm morphology and motility remain normal (Jensen et al., 2004). The reduction in sperm concentration and total sperm count may be related to both the decrease in serum testosterone, SHBG and inhibin B and increased oestradiol levels with increasing BMI (Jensen et al., 2004).

Type-1 cannabinoid [CB] receptor and fatty acid amide hydrolase are particularly expressed in elongating spermatids and spermatozoa suggesting that endocannabinoids affect spermiogenesis and sperm physiology (Cacciola et al., 2008), and in the epididymis promote sperm motility through CB1 receptors (Ricci et al., 2007). Marijuana use leads to decreases in sperm concentration, defective sperm function or alteration of sperm morphology (Battista et al., 2008). The endocannabinoid system is postulated to be overactive in obesity, but the consequences of this for spermatogenesis and fertility remain unknown.

Some obesity syndromes with known genetic defects are specifically associated with abnormalities of spermatogenesis due to loss of function of a single gene responsible for both, for example the Alms1 gene in Alström Syndrome (Arsov et al., 2006) or a number of genes in a chromosomal region (15q11–q13) leading to obesity and impaired spermatogenesis, for example Prader–Willi Syndrome and Angelman Syndromes (Buiting et al., 2003). A testis-specific gene [C15orf2] is found in the Prader–Willi syndrome region on chromosome 15 (Farber et al., 2000), along with HERC2, abnormal function of which leads to sperm acrosome defects and neuromuscular abnormalities (Ji et al., 1999).

9. Obesity and hypogonadism: cause or effect?

The cause and effect relationship between obesity, insulin resistance, the metabolic syndrome, type 2 diabetes mellitus and androgen deficiency remains unclear. Data from the Massachusetts Male Aging Study showed that lower levels of total testosterone and SHBG were predictive of the development of the metabolic syndrome, particularly in men with BMI < 25 kg/m² (Kupelian et al., 2006). In contrast other data suggests that the metabolic syndrome is an independent risk factor for hypogonadism in middle-aged men (Goulis and Tarlatzis, 2008), and relative androgen deficiency appears to be a marker for, rather than the cause of. metabolic syndrome or diabetes mellitus in older men (Chen et al., 2006). On balance the available data suggests that hypoandrogenism is an early marker for disturbances in insulin and glucose metabolism that may progress to the metabolic syndrome or frank diabetes and may contribute to their pathogenesis (Laaksonen et al., 2004).

9.1. Effect of androgen ablation on body composition and metabolism

Androgen ablation therapy to treat advanced prostate cancer over a period of 1–5 years induces a significant increase in total body fat mass and reduction in lean body mass (Chen et al., 2002), and up to 50% of such men in one study fulfilled criteria for the metabolic syndrome by one year (Braga-Basaria et al., 2006). Greenfield et al. evaluated the prevalence of androgen deficiency in a cross-sectional, observational study of 176 cancer survivors aged 25–45 years who had received chemotherapy and/or radiotherapy (Greenfield et al., 2007). They found that 13.6% of the young cancer survivors had frankly low total testosterone levels <10 nmol/L and that this was associated with increased fat mass and increased insulin levels.

9.2. Effect of weight loss on plasma androgen levels

In response to weight loss, SHBG has been reported to either increased (Strain et al., 1988; Vermeulen et al., 1996) or remained unchanged (Stanik et al., 1981; Pasquali et al., 1988). Similarly total and free testosterone levels either increased (Stanik et al., 1981; Strain et al., 1988; Pasquali et al., 1988), remained unchanged or decreased in response to weight loss (Klibanski et al., 1981; Hoffer et al., 1986; Leenen et al., 1994).

More recent studies looked at the effects of rapid weight loss as well as weight maintenance on plasma androgen levels. Substantial weight loss induced by very low energy diets induced an increase in SHBG and total (Kaukua et al., 2003) as well as free testosterone (Niskanen et al., 2004), with some decrease in SHBG during the weight maintenance phase but with sustained effect on free testosterone up to 12 months of weight maintenance (Niskanen et al., 2004). In this group of obese men with biochemical hypogonadism, weight loss and maintenance normalized total testosterone and bioavailable testosterone levels in 70% and 50%, respectively.

The relationship between the magnitude, rapidity of weight loss, macronutrient intake, and effects within specific patient populations (generalized obesity, predominant visceral obesity, metabolic syndrome, and presence of obstructive sleep apnea) on plasma testosterone and SHBG remains to be determined.

9.3. Effects of testosterone replacement therapy

Testosterone replacement therapy consistently decreases fat mass and increases lean body mass in men with acquired hypogonadism over 18 months (Katznelson et al., 1996) as well as in middle-aged (Allan et al., 2008) and older men with relatively low testosterone levels over either 12 (Wittert et al., 2003) or 36 months (Page et al., 2005). Testosterone therapy reduces visceral fat accumulation in proportion to the increase in testosterone levels (Allan et al., 2008).

Despite the consistently observed beneficial effects of androgen supplementation on body composition, the evidence for beneficial effects on metabolic profile is limited. In general LDL-cholesterol and triglyceride levels decrease but neither HDL-cholesterol nor insulin sensitivity are significantly altered in viscerally obese men (Page et al., 2005; Liu et al., 2003a). A recent meta-analysis failed to find that testosterone use in men was associated with significant cardiovascular benefits (Haddad et al., 2007).

The current combined international recommendations suggested that testosterone treatment for men with hypogonadism and diabetes or the metabolic syndrome is not recommended as treatment for the metabolic disturbance (Wang et al., 2008). Nevertheless given the effects of testosterone on body composition it remains possible that testosterone supplementation has a role in preventing the progression of obesity-related metabolic disturbance in men with associated low plasma testosterone.

In hypogonadal men with OSA, androgen replacement therapy should be used with caution because although physiological studies have previously indicated that testosterone administration increased ventilation (White et al., 1985) it has been shown that testosterone therapy given to hypogonadal men shortened sleep, worsened sleep apnoea and disrupted breathing during sleep (Liu et al., 2003b; Schneider et al., 1986).

10. Conclusion

Obesity, the metabolic syndrome, and type 2 diabetes mellitus are associated with low plasma testosterone levels which should be regarded as a marker of, and possibly risk factor for progression of disordered metabolism. The mechanisms and cause and effect relationships remain to be determined. In addition although there is an association between obesity and abnormalities of spermatozoa, the prevalence and functional consequences, similarly remain to be determined.

Lifestyle intervention is of benefit for the prevention of cardiovascular disease and type 2 diabetes mellitus and weight loss is also associated with improvement in plasma testosterone levels. In contrast the benefit of weight loss for abnormalities of spermatozoa is unknown. The role, if any for androgen supplementation remains to be determined.

References

- Abate, N., Haffner, S.M., Garg, A., Peshock, R.M., Grundy, S.M., 2002. Sex steroid hormones, upper body obesity, and insulin resistance. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 87, 4522–4527.
- Allan, C.A., Strauss, B.J., Burger, H.G., Forbes, E.A., Mclachlan, R.I., 2008. Testosterone therapy prevents gain in visceral adipose tissue and loss of skeletal muscle in nonobese aging men. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 93, 139–146.
- Anand-Ivell, R., Wohlgemuth, J., Haren, M.T., Hope, P.J., Hatzinikolas, G., Wittert, G., Ivell, R., 2006. Peripheral INSL3 concentrations decline with age in a large population of Australian men. Int. J. Androl. 29, 618–626.
- Arregger, A.L., Contreras, L.N., Tumilasci, O.R., Aquilano, D.R., Cardoso, E.M., 2007. Salivary testosterone: a reliable approach to the diagnosis of male hypogonadism. Clin. Endocrinol. (Oxf.) 67, 656–662.

- Arsov, T., Silva, D.G., O'bryan, M.K., Sainsbury, A., Lee, N.J., Kennedy, C., Manji, S.S., Nelms, K., Liu, C., Vinuesa, C.G., de Kretser, D.M., Goodnow, C.C., Petrovsky, N., 2006. Fat aussie–a new Alstrom syndrome mouse showing a critical role for ALMS1 in obesity, diabetes, and spermatogenesis. Mol. Endocrinol. 20, 1610–1622.
- Bagatell, C.J., Dahl, K.D., Bremner, W.J., 1994. The direct pituitary effect of testosterone to inhibit gonadotropin secretion in men is partially mediated by aromatization to estradiol. J. Androl. 15, 15–21.
- Battista, N., Rapino, C., Di Tommaso, M., Bari, M., Pasquariello, N., Maccarrone, M., 2008. Regulation of male fertility by the endocannabinoid system. Mol. Cell. Endocrinol. 286, S17–23.
- Braga-Basaria, M., Dobs, A.S., Muller, D.C., Carducci, M.A., John, M., Egan, J., Basaria, S., 2006. Metabolic syndrome in men with prostate cancer undergoing long-term androgen-deprivation therapy. J. Clin. Oncol. 24, 3979–3983.
- Bratel, T., Wennlund, A., Carlstrom, K., 1999. Pituitary reactivity, androgens and catecholamines in obstructive sleep apnoea. Effects of continuous positive airway pressure treatment (CPAP). Respir. Med. 93, 1–7.
- Buiting, K., Gross, S., Lich, C., Gillessen-Kaesbach, G., El-Maarri, O., Horsthemke, B., 2003. Epimutations in Prader-Willi and Angelman syndromes: a molecular study of 136 patients with an imprinting defect. Am. J. Hum. Genet. 72, 571–577.
- Cacciola, G., Chioccarelli, T., Ricci, G., Meccariello, R., Fasano, S., Pierantoni, R., Cobellis, G., 2008. The endocannabinoid system in vertebrate male reproduction: a comparative overview. Mol. Cell. Endocrinol. 286, S24–30.
- Caminos, J.E., Nogueiras, R., Gaytan, F., Pineda, R., Gonzalez, C.R., Barreiro, M.L., Castano, J.P., Malagon, M.M., Pinilla, L., Toppari, J., Dieguez, C., Tena-Sempere, M., 2008. Novel expression and direct effects of adiponectin in the rat testis. Endocrinology 149, 3390–3402.
- Chen, R.Y., Wittert, G.A., Andrews, G.R., 2006. Relative androgen deficiency in relation to obesity and metabolic status in older men. Diab. Obes. Metab. 8, 429–435.
- Chen, Z., Maricic, M., Nguyen, P., Ahmann, F.R., Bruhn, R., Dalkin, B.L., 2002. Low bone density and high percentage of body fat among men who were treated with androgen deprivation therapy for prostate carcinoma. Cancer 95, 2136–2144.
- Couillard, C., Gagnon, J., Bergeron, J., Leon, A.S., Rao, D.C., Skinner, J.S., Wilmore, J.H., Despres, J.P., Bouchard, C., 2000. Contribution of body fatness and adipose tissue distribution to the age variation in plasma steroid hormone concentrations in men: the HERITAGE Family Study. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 85, 1026–1031.
- de Kretser, D.M., Buzzard, J.J., Okuma, Y., O'connor, A.E., Hayashi, T., Lin, S.Y., Morrison, J.R., Loveland, K.L., Hedger, M.P., 2004. The role of activin, follistatin and inhibin in testicular physiology. Mol. Cell. Endocrinol. 225, 57–64.
- de Ronde, W., van der Schouw, Y.T., Pols, H.A., Gooren, L.J., Muller, M., Grobbee, D.E., De Jong, F.H., 2006. Calculation of bioavailable and free testosterone in men: a comparison of 5 published algorithms. Clin. Chem. 52, 1777–1784.
- Derby, C.A., Zilber, S., Brambilla, D., Morales, K.H., Mckinlay, J.B., 2006. Body mass index, waist circumference and waist to hip ratio and change in sex steroid hormones: the Massachusetts Male Ageing Study. Clin. Endocrinol. (Oxf.) 65, 125–131.
- Farber, C., Gross, S., Neesen, J., Buiting, K., Horsthemke, B., 2000. Identification of a testis-specific gene (C15orf2) in the Prader–Willi syndrome region on chromosome 15. Genomics 65, 174–183.
- Field, A.E., Coakley, E.H., Must, A., Spadano, J.L., Laird, N., Dietz, W.H., Rimm, E., Colditz, G.A., 2001. Impact of overweight on the risk of developing common chronic diseases during a 10-year period. Arch. Intern. Med. 161, 1581–1586.
- chronic diseases during a 10-year period. Arch. Intern. Med. 161, 1581–1586. Finkelstein, J.S., O'dea, L.S., Whitcomb, R.W., Crowley Jr., W.F., 1991. Sex steroid control of gonadotropin secretion in the human male. II. Effects of estradiol administration in normal and gonadotropin-releasing hormone-deficient men. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 73, 621–628.
- Garcia, M.C., Lopez, M., Alvarez, C.V., Casanueva, F., Tena-Sempere, M., Dieguez, C., 2007. Role of ghrelin in reproduction. Reproduction 133, 531–540.
- Giagulli, V.A., Kaufman, J.M., Vermeulen, A. 1994. Pathogenesis of the decreased androgen levels in obese men. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 79, 997–1000.
- Giton, F., Fiet, J., Guechot, J., Ibrahim, F., Bronsard, F., Chopin, D., Raynaud, J.P., 2006. Serum bioavailable testosterone: assayed or calculated? Clin. Chem. 52, 474–481.
- Giton, F., Urien, S., Born, C., Tichet, J., Guechot, J., Callebert, J., Bronsard, F., Raynaud, J.P., Fiet, J., 2007. Determination of bioavailable testosterone [non sex hormone binding globulin (SHBG)-bound testosterone] in a population of healthy French men: influence of androstenediol on testosterone binding to SHBG. Clin. Chem. 53, 2160–2168.
- Goulis, D.G., Tarlatzis, B.C., 2008. Metabolic syndrome and reproduction: I. testicular function. Gynecol. Endocrinol. 24, 33–39.
- Gray, A., Feldman, H.A., Mckinlay, J.B., Longcope, C., 1991. Age, disease, and changing sex hormone levels in middle-aged men: results of the Massachusetts Male Aging Study. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 73, 1016–1025.
- Greenfield, D.M., Walters, S.J., Coleman, R.E., Hancock, B.W., Eastell, R., Davies, H.A., Snowden, J.A., Derogatis, L., Shalet, S.M., Ross, R.J., 2007. Prevalence and consequences of androgen deficiency in young male cancer survivors in a controlled cross-sectional study. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 92, 3476–3482.
- Griffin, J.E., Wilson, J.D., 2003. Disorders of the testes and the male reproductive tract. In: Reed Larsen, P., Kronenberg, H.M., Melmed, S., Polonsky, K.S. (Eds.), Williams Textbook of Endocrinology, 10th ed. Saunders.
- Grunstein, R.R., Handelsman, D.J., Lawrence, S.J., Blackwell, C., Caterson, I.D., Sullivan, C.E., 1989. Neuroendocrine dysfunction in sleep apnea: reversal by continuous positive airways pressure therapy. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 68, 352–358.
- Haddad, R.M., Kennedy, C.C., Caples, S.M., Tracz, M.J., Bolona, E.R., Sideras, K., Uraga, M.V., Erwin, P.J., Montori, V.M., 2007. Testosterone and cardiovascular risk in men: a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized placebo-controlled trials. Mayo Clin. Proc. 82, 29–39.

- Haffner, S.M., 2000. Sex hormones, obesity, fat distribution, type 2 diabetes and insulin resistance: epidemiological and clinical correlation. Int. J. Obes. Relat. Metab. Disord. 24 (Suppl. 2), S56–S58.
- Haffner, S.M., Valdez, R.A., Stern, M.P., Katz, M.S., 1993. Obesity, body fat distribution and sex hormones in men. Int. J. Obes. Relat. Metab. Disord. 17, 643–649.
- Hall, S.A., Esche, G.R., Araujo, A.B., Travison, T.G., Clark, R.V., Williams, R.E., Mckinlay, J.B., 2008. Correlates of low testosterone and symptomatic androgen deficiency in a population-based sample. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 93, 3870–3877.
- Hammoud, A.O., Gibson, M., Peterson, C.M., Hamilton, B.D., Carrell, D.T., 2006. Obesity and male reproductive potential. J. Androl. 27, 619–626.
- Hautanen, A., 2000. Synthesis and regulation of sex hormone-binding globulin in obesity. Int. J. Obes. Relat. Metab. Disord. 24 Suppl 2, S64–70.
- Hayashi, T., Yamada, T., 2008. Association of bioavailable estradiol levels and testosterone levels with serum albumin levels in elderly men. Aging Male 11, 63–70.
- Hayes, F.J., Seminara, S.B., Decruz, S., Boepple, P.A., Crowley Jr., W.F., 2000. Aromatase inhibition in the human male reveals a hypothalamic site of estrogen feedback. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 85, 3027–3035.
- Hoffer, L.J., Beitins, I.Z., Kyung, N.H., Bistrian, B.R., 1986. Effects of severe dietary restriction on male reproductive hormones. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 62, 288–292.
- Ishikawa, T., Fujioka, H., Ishimura, T., Takenaka, A., Fujisawa, M., 2007. Ghrelin expression in human testis and serum testosterone level. J. Androl. 28, 320–324.
- Isidori, A.M., Caprio, M., Strollo, F., Moretti, C., Frajese, G., Isidori, A., Fabbri, A., 1999. Leptin and androgens in male obesity: evidence for leptin contribution to reduced androgen levels. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 84, 3673–3680.
- Jensen, T.K., Andersson, A.M., Jorgensen, N., Andersen, A.G., Carlsen, E., Petersen, J.H., Skakkebaek, N.E., 2004. Body mass index in relation to semen quality and reproductive hormones among 1,558 Danish men. Fertil. Steril. 82, 863–870.
- Ji, Y., Walkowicz, M.J., Buiting, K., Johnson, D.K., Tarvin, R.E., Rinchik, E.M., Horsthemke, B., Stubbs, L., Nicholls, R.D., 1999. The ancestral gene for transcribed, low-copy repeats in the Prader–Willi/Angelman region encodes a large protein implicated in protein trafficking, which is deficient in mice with neuromuscular and spermiogenic abnormalities. Hum. Mol. Genet. 8, 533–542.
- Kalme, T., Koistinen, H., Loukovaara, M., Koistinen, R., Leinonen, P., 2003. Comparative studies on the regulation of insulin-like growth factor-binding protein-1 (IGFBP-1) and sex hormone-binding globulin (SHBG) production by insulin and insulinlike growth factors in human hepatoma cells. J. Steroid Biochem. Mol. Biol. 86, 197–200.
- Kapoor, D., Channer, K.S., Jones, T.H., 2008. Rosiglitazone increases bioactive testosterone and reduces waist circumference in hypogonadal men with type 2 diabetes. Diab. Vasc. Dis. Res. 5, 135–137.
- Katznelson, L., Finkelstein, J.S., Schoenfeld, D.A., Rosenthal, D.I., Anderson, E.J., Klibanski, A., 1996. Increase in bone density and lean body mass during testosterone administration in men with acquired hypogonadism. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 81, 4358–4365.
- Kaufman, J.M., Vermeulen, A., 2005. The decline of androgen levels in elderly men and its clinical and therapeutic implications. Endocr. Rev. 26, 833–876.
- Kaukua, J., Pekkarinen, T., Sane, T., Mustajoki, P., 2003. Sex hormones and sexual function in obese men losing weight. Obes. Res. 11, 689–694.
- Kheradmand, A., Roshangar, L., Taati, M., 2008. The role of ghrelin on the morphometry and intracellular changes in the rat testis. Tissue Cell.
- Klibanski, A., Beitins, I.Z., Badger, T., Little, R., Mcarthur, J.W., 1981. Reproductive function during fasting in men. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 53, 258–263.
- Kuhn-Velten, N., Codjambopoulo, P., Haider, S.G., Passia, D., Kley, H.K., Herberg, L., Staib, W., Goslar, H.G., 1986. Biochemical and histochemical studies on the pituitary-testicular axis in obese (C57Bl/6J-ob/ob) mice. Int. J. Androl. 9, 123–131.
- Kumanov, P., Nandipati, K.C., Tomova, A., Robeva, R., Agarwal, A., 2005. Significance of inhibin in reproductive pathophysiology and current clinical applications. Reprod. Biomed. Online 10, 786–812.
- Kupelian, V., Page, S.T., Araujo, A.B., Travison, T.G., Bremner, W.J., Mckinlay, J.B., 2006. Low sex hormone-binding globulin, total testosterone, and symptomatic androgen deficiency are associated with development of the metabolic syndrome in nonobese men. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 91, 843–850.
- Laaksonen, D.E., Niskanen, L., Punnonen, K., Nyyssonen, K., Tuomainen, T.P., Valkonen, V.P., Salonen, R., Salonen, J.T., 2004. Testosterone and sex hormone-binding globulin predict the metabolic syndrome and diabetes in middle-aged men. Diabetes Care 27, 1036–1041.
- Leenen, R., van der Kooy, K., Seidell, J.C., Deurenberg, P., Koppeschaar, H.P., 1994. Visceral fat accumulation in relation to sex hormones in obese men and women undergoing weight loss therapy. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 78, 1515–1520.
- Liu, P.Y., Wishart, S.M., Celermajer, D.S., Jimenez, M., Pierro, I.D., Conway, A.J., Handelsman, D.J., 2003a. Do reproductive hormones modify insulin sensitivity and metabolism in older men? A randomized, placebo-controlled clinical trial of recombinant human chorionic gonadotropin. Eur. J. Endocrinol. 148, 55–66.
- Liu, P.Y., Yee, B., Wishart, S.M., Jimenez, M., Jung, D.G., Grunstein, R.R., Handelsman, D.J., 2003b. The short-term effects of high-dose testosterone on sleep, breathing, and function in older men. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 88, 3605–3613.
- Luboshitzky, R., Aviv, A., Hefetz, A., Herer, P., Shen-Orr, Z., Lavie, L., Lavie, P., 2002. Decreased pituitary-gonadal secretion in men with obstructive sleep apnea. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 87, 3394–3398.
- Luboshitzky, R., Lavie, L., Shen-Orr, Z., Lavie, P., 2003. Pituitary–gonadal function in men with obstructive sleep apnea. The effect of continuous positive airways pressure treatment. Neuroendocrinol Lett 24, 463–467.
- Maggio, M., Lauretani, F., Ceda, G., Bandinelli, S., Basaria, S., Paolisso, G., Giumelli, C., Luci, M., Najjar, S.S., Metter, E.J., Valenti, G., Guralnik, J.M., Ferrucci, L., 2008.

Estradiol and Metabolic Syndrome in Older Italian Men: The InCHIANTI Study. J. Androl..

- Meachem, S.J., Nieschlag, E., Simoni, M., 2001. Inhibin B in male reproduction: pathophysiology and clinical relevance. Eur. J. Endocrinol. 145, 561–571.
- Meston, N., Davies, R.J., Mullins, R., Jenkinson, C., Wass, J.A., Stradling, J.R., 2003. Endocrine effects of nasal continuous positive airway pressure in male patients with obstructive sleep apnoea. J. Intern. Med. 254, 447–454.
- Mohr, B.A., Guay, A.T., O'donnell, A.B., Mckinlay, J.B., 2005. Normal, bound and nonbound testosterone levels in normally ageing men: results from the Massachusetts Male Ageing Study. Clin. Endocrinol. (Oxf.) 62, 64–73.
- Morley, J.E., Patrick, P., Perry 3rd, H.M., 2002. Evaluation of assays available to measure free testosterone. Metabolism 51, 554–559.
- Nielsen, T.L., Hagen, C., Wraae, K., Brixen, K., Petersen, P.H., Haug, E., Larsen, R., Andersen, M., 2007. Visceral and subcutaneous adipose tissue assessed by magnetic resonance imaging in relation to circulating androgens, sex hormone-binding globulin, and luteinizing hormone in young men. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 92, 2696–2705.
- Niskanen, L., Laaksonen, D.E., Punnonen, K., Mustajoki, P., Kaukua, J., Rissanen, A., 2004. Changes in sex hormone-binding globulin and testosterone during weight loss and weight maintenance in abdominally obese men with the metabolic syndrome. Diab. Obes. Metab. 6, 208–215.
- Nogueiras, R., Barreiro, M.L., Caminos, J.E., Gaytan, F., Suominen, J.S., Navarro, V.M., Casanueva, F.F., Aguilar, E., Toppari, J., Dieguez, C., Tena-Sempere, M., 2004. Novel expression of resistin in rat testis: functional role and regulation by nutritional status and hormonal factors. J. Cell Sci. 117, 3247–3257.
- Page, S.T., Amory, J.K., Bowman, F.D., Anawalt, B.D., Matsumoto, A.M., Bremner, W.J., Tenover, J.L., 2005. Exogenous testosterone (T) alone or with finasteride increases physical performance, grip strength, and lean body mass in older men with low serum T. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 90, 1502–1510.
- Pardridge, W.M., 1986. Serum bioavailability of sex steroid hormones. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 15, 259–278.
- Pasquali, R., Casimirri, F., Cantobelli, S., Melchionda, N., Morselli Labate, A.M., Fabbri, R., Capelli, M., Bortoluzzi, L., 1991. Effect of obesity and body fat distribution on sex hormones and insulin in men. Metabolism 40, 101–104.
- Pasquali, R., Casimirri, F., Melchionda, N., Fabbri, R., Capelli, M., Plate, L., Patrono, D., Balestra, V., Barbara, L., 1988. Weight loss and sex steroid metabolism in massively obese man. J. Endocrinol. Invest. 11, 205–210.
- Plymate, S.R., Jones, R.E., Matej, L.A., Friedl, K.E., 1988. Regulation of sex hormone binding globulin (SHBG) production in Hep G2 cells by insulin. Steroids 52, 339–340.
- Ricci, G., Cacciola, G., Altucci, L., Meccariello, R., Pierantoni, R., Fasano, S., Cobellis, G., 2007. Endocannabinoid control of sperm motility: the role of epididymus. Gen. Comp. Endocrinol. 153, 320–322.
- Rodriguez, A., Muller, D.C., Metter, E.J., Maggio, M., Harman, S.M., Blackman, M.R., Andres, R., 2007. Aging, androgens, and the metabolic syndrome in a longitudinal study of aging. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 92, 3568–3572.
- Rosner, W., Auchus, R.J., Azziz, R., Sluss, P.M., Raff, H., 2007. Position statement: Utility, limitations, and pitfalls in measuring testosterone: an Endocrine Society position statement. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 92, 405–413.
- Roth, M.Y., Amory, J.K., Page, S.T., 2008. Treatment of male infertility secondary to morbid obesity. Nat. Clin. Pract. Endocrinol. Metab. 4, 415–419.
- Schneider, B.K., Pickett, C.K., Zwillich, C.W., Weil, J.V., Mcdermott, M.T., Santen, R.J., Varano, L.A., White, D.P., 1986. Influence of testosterone on breathing during sleep. J. Appl. Physiol. 61, 618–623.
- Schneider, G., Kirschner, M.A., Berkowitz, R., Ertel, N.H., 1979. Increased estrogen production in obese men. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 48, 633–638.
- Seidell, J.C., Bjorntorp, P., Sjostrom, L., Kvist, H., Sannerstedt, R., 1990. Visceral fat accumulation in men is positively associated with insulin, glucose, and C-peptide levels, but negatively with testosterone levels. Metabolism 39, 897–901.
- Seidell, J.C., Visscher, T.L., 2000. Body weight and weight change and their health implications for the elderly. Eur. J. Clin. Nutr. 54 Suppl 3, S33–S39.
- Sikaris, K., Mclachlan, R.I., Kazlauskas, R., de Kretser, D., Holden, C.A., Handelsman, D.J., 2005. Reproductive hormone reference intervals for healthy fertile young men: evaluation of automated platform assays. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 90, 5928–5936.
- Stanik, S., Dornfeld, L.P., Maxwell, M.H., Viosca, S.P., Korenman, S.G., 1981. The effect of weight loss on reproductive hormones in obese men. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 53, 828–832.
- Strain, G.W., Zumoff, B., Miller, L.K., Rosner, W., Levit, C., Kalin, M., Hershcopf, R.J., Rosenfeld, R.S., 1988. Effect of massive weight loss on hypothalamic– pituitary–gonadal function in obese men. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 66, 1019–1023.
- Svartberg, J., Von Muhlen, D., Sundsfjord, J., Jorde, R., 2004. Waist circumference and testosterone levels in community dwelling men. The Tromso study. Eur. J. Epidemiol. 19, 657–663.
- Tosca, L., Chabrolle, C., Dupont, J., 2008. AMPK: a link between metabolism and reproduction? Med. Sci. (Paris) 24, 297–300.
- van den Beld, A.W., de Jong, F.H., Grobbee, D.E., Pols, H.A., Lamberts, S.W., 2000. Measures of bioavailable serum testosterone and estradiol and their relationships with muscle strength, bone density, and body composition in elderly men. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 85, 3276–3282.
- Van Thiel, D.H., Sherins, R.J., Myers Jr., G.H., De Vita Jr., V.T., 1972. Evidence for a specific seminiferous tubular factor affecting follicle-stimulating hormone secretion in man. J. Clin. Invest. 51, 1009–1019.
- Veldhuis, J.D., Dufau, M.L., 1987. Estradiol modulates the pulsatile secretion of biologically active luteinizing hormone in man. J. Clin. Invest. 80, 631–638.

- Vermeulen, A., Kaufman, J.M., Deslypere, J.P., Thomas, G., 1993. Attenuated luteinizing hormone (LH) pulse amplitude but normal LH pulse frequency, and its relation to plasma androgens in hypogonadism of obese men. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 76, 1140–1146.
- Vermeulen, A., Kaufman, J.M., Giagulli, V.A., 1996. Influence of some biological indexes on sex hormone-binding globulin and androgen levels in aging or obese males. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 81, 1821–1826.
- Vermeulen, A., Kaufman, J.M., Goemaere, S., Van Pottelberg, I., 2002. Estradiol in elderly men. Aging Male 5, 98–102.
- Vermeulen, A., Verdonck, L., Kaufman, J.M., 1999. A critical evaluation of simple methods for the estimation of free testosterone in serum. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 84, 3666–3672.
- Vieira, J.G., Nakamura, O.H., Ferrer, C.M., Tachibana, T.T., Endo, M.H., Carvalho, V.M., 2008. [The importance of methodology in serum testosterone measurement: comparison between a direct immunoassay and a method based on high performance liquid chromatography and tandem mass spectrometry (HPLC/MS–MS)]. Arq. Bras. Endocrinol. Metabol. 52, 1050–1055.
- Wang, C., Nieschlag, E., Swerdloff, R., Behre, H.M., Hellstrom, W.J., Gooren, L.J., Kaufman, J.M., Legros, J.J., Lunenfeld, B., Morales, A., Morley, J.E., Schulman, C., Thompson, I.M., Weidner, W., Wu, F.C., 2008. Investigation, Treatment, and Monitoring of Late-Onset Hypogonadism in Males: ISA, ISSAM, EAU, EAA, and ASA Recommendations. Eur. Urol.

- White, D.P., Schneider, B.K., Santen, R.J., Mcdermott, M., Pickett, C.K., Zwillich, C.W., Weil, J.V., 1985. Influence of testosterone on ventilation and chemosensitivity in male subjects. J. Appl. Physiol. 59, 1452–1457.
- Wittels, E.H., 1985. Obesity and hormonal factors in sleep and sleep apnea. Med. Clin. North Am. 69, 1265–1280.
- Wittert, G.A., Chapman, I.M., Haren, M.T., Mackintosh, S., Coates, P., Morley, J.E., 2003. Oral testosterone supplementation increases muscle and decreases fat mass in healthy elderly males with low-normal gonadal status. J. Gerontol. A Biol. Sci. Med. Sci. 58, 618–625.
- Wu, F.C., Tajar, A., Pye, S.R., Silman, A.J., Finn, J.D., O'neill, T.W., Bartfai, G., Casanueva, F., Forti, G., Giwercman, A., Huhtaniemi, I.T., Kula, K., Punab, M., Boonen, S., Vanderschueren, D., 2008. Hypothalamic–pituitary–testicular axis disruptions in older men are differentially linked to age and modifiable risk factors: the European Male Aging Study. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 93, 2737–2745.
- Yeap, B.B., Almeida, O.P., Hyde, Z., Norman, P.E., Chubb, S.A., Jamrozik, K., Hankey, G.J., Flicker, L., 2008. Healthier lifestyle predicts higher circulating testosterone in older men. The Health in Men Study. Clin. Endocrinol. (Oxf.).
- Young, R.A., Frink, R., Longcope, C., 1982. Serum testosterone and gonadotropins in the genetically obese male Zucker rat. Endocrinology 111, 977–981.
- Zumoff, B., Strain, G.W., Kream, J., O'connor, J., Levin, J., Fukushima, D.K., 1981. Obese young men have elevated plasma estrogen levels but obese premenopausal women do not. Metabolism 30, 1011–1014.